IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARSHALL E. BELAGER-PRICE AND BRENDA C. BELAGER-PRICE; BRIAN E. PRICE AND RETHA A. PRICE; RICHARD TUCKER AND CAROLYN TUCKER; AARON D. PUCKETT, JR. AND LESLIE PUCKETT; AND MARY ANNE NARRON

APPELLANTS

V.

NO.: 2008-CA-02102

RICHARD LINGLE AND NAOMI T. LINGLE

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

S. Craig Panter, MSB
Ronald E. Stutzman, Jr., MSB #1
PANTER & STUTZMAN, PLLC
961 Madison Avenue (39110)
P.O. Box 2310
Madison, Mississippi 39130
Telephone: (601) 607 3156

Telephone: (601) 607-3156 Facsimile: (601) 607-3157

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Chancellor erred as a matter of law in ruling that the protective covenants at issue were ambiguous.
- II. The Chancellor erred as a matter of law in ruling that the Appellees (hereinafter the "Lingles") could use the property for construction of a horse barn and the boarding of horses without contemporaneously using the property for a residence.
- III. The Chancellor erred as a matter of law in ruling that the Lingles' intent to use the property for a single-family residence at some unknown, future date could justify a nonconforming use in the interim.
- IV. The Chancellor erred when he failed to grant injunctive relief in favor of the Petitioners/ Appellants.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Course of the Proceedings Below

This is an appeal from a Final Judgment of the Chancery Court of Madison County, Mississippi denying a Petition to Enforce Covenants and for Permanent Injunctive Relief (hereinafter the "Petition to Enforce"). This case centers around the interpretation and application of the protective covenants for the Kristen Hill Subdivision in Madison County, Mississippi.

Appellants (who were the Petitioners in the lower court) are Marshall E. Belager-Price, Brenda C. Belager-Price, Brian E. Price, Retha A. Price, Richard Tucker, Carolyn Tucker, Aaron D. Puckett, Jr., Leslie Puckett and Mary Anne Narron. They are referred to collectively below as the "Homeowners".

All of the Homeowners (except for Mary Anne Narron) are residents of the Kristen Hill Subdivision. Although Ms. Narron does not reside in the Kristen Hill Subdivision, she was a general partner of Cherry Hill Plantation, Limited Partnership, the developer of the subdivision, and she joined in the Petition to Enforce in that capacity.

Appellees (who were Respondents in the lower court) are Richard M. Lingle and Naomi T. Lingle. The Lingles purchased a lot in the Kristin Hill Subdivision on June 14, 2007. The Lingles' lot is subject to certain protective covenants. The covenants state that the lot "can only be used to build and construct only one single-family residence and appurtenances thereto." *See* Trial Exhibit 5; *see also* Record page 61 (hereinafter "R.__").

On April 29, 2008, the Homeowners filed their Petition to Enforce. R. 1. It was alleged in the Petition to Enforce that the Lingles were engaged in construction of a horse barn on the lot in question and intended to board horses there without constructing a single-family residence. The Homeowners contended that such a use violated the applicable protective covenants, and they sought injunctive relief.¹

In response, the Lingles filed an Answer and asserted numerous affirmative defenses, including the contention that the protective covenants were ambiguous. R. 33. The Lingles also asserted a counterclaim in which they alleged that the Homeowners had interfered with their right to quiet enjoyment of their property and had caused the Lingles mental suffering and emotional damages.

After the first two chancellors assigned to the case entered Orders of Recusal, the Mississippi Supreme Court appointed the Honorable Thomas Zebert as a Special Judge to

¹ As explained in the Petition to Enforce, there was also an issue regarding a trailer the Lingles had parked on the property. This issue is now moot, as the Lingles have removed the trailer.

preside over the case. R. 57.

This matter proceeded to trial before Chancellor Zebert on October 21, 2008. During the course of the trial, all of the Homeowners (with one exception) testified, as did Ms. Karen Deem, another individual involved in the original development of the subdivision. Mr. Lingle was the only witness to testify for the defense. The Lingles did not offer any proof in support of their Counterclaim.

On November 13, 2008, the Chancellor entered his Final Judgment and Findings of Fact Including Conclusions of Law. R. 60; Record Excerpts page 004 (hereinafter "R.Ex. ____").

The Chancellor ruled that:

-The protective covenants were ambiguous. R. 75-77; R.Ex. 019-021.

-Since the protective covenants were ambiguous, they did not preclude the Lingles from constructing the horse barn and using the property for boarding horses as long as the Lingles intended to construct a single family residence on the land at some future (but unknown) date. R. 77-82; R.Ex. 021-026.

As a result, the Chancellor denied all relief requested by the Homeowners. The case was dismissed with prejudice. R. 83; R.Ex. 027.

Trial counsel for the Homeowners filed a Motion to Reconsider on December 1, 2008. R. 85; R.Ex. 029. The Chancellor denied the Motion to Reconsider on January 6, 2009.² R.Ex. 032.

² The Court's Final Judgment Regarding Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's Prior Judgment was not included by the Circuit Clerk in the initial Record and is, therefore, included in the Supplemental Record.

The Notice of Appeal was filed on December 10, 2008. R. 105.3

B. Statement of Relevant Facts

The Kristen Hill Subdivision is located on Gluckstadt Road in Madison, Mississippi. The subdivision contains 5 lots ranging in size from 7.45 acres up to 13.10 acres. A copy of a plat of the subdivision can be seen as part of Trial Exhibit 8.

With the exception of the lot purchased by the Lingles, all of the lots in the Kristin Hill Subdivision contain large single-family residences and are used for that purpose. Photographs of the area, and of the homes in particular, can also be seen as part of Trail Exhibit 8.

Plaintiff Mary Anne Sharpe Narron is a General Partner of Cherry Hill Plantation, Limited Partnership, the original grantor of each of the lots. Cherry Hill Plantation, L.P. owns property contiguous to the above lots to the north, west and directly across Gluckstadt Road.

The lots in the Kristin Hill Subdivision are all subject to protective covenants restricting use to single-family residences and, with the exception with the lot owned by the Lingles, are being using consistent with those protective covenants.

³ The Court will note that the Notice to Appeal was filed prior to the time the Chancellor denied the Motion to Reconsider. This reason is that Appeal counsel for the Homeowners noticed that the Motion to Reconsider had been filed more than 10 days after entry of the Final Judgment. This appeared to make the Motion untimely. See Rule 59, M.R.Civ.P.; see also Rule 4(d), M.R.A.P. [altering the deadline for the filing of a notice of appeal if a party has filed a timely post-trial motion]; see also Anderson v. Anderson, 2007-CA-00879-COA (Miss. Ct. App. 4-14-2009) [a motion to reconsider is treated as Rule 59 motion, and a chancellor is without jurisdiction to grant an untimely motion to reconsider].

Under these circumstances, appeal counsel for the Homeowners thought it appropriate to go forward with the Notice of Appeal. If this conclusion was erroneous, however, then under Rule 4, M.R.A.P., the notice of appeal "ripened" once Chancellor Zebert denied the Motion to Reconsider. See Advisory Committee Historical Note and the Comment regarding Rule 4(d), M.R.A.P.

The Lingles' Warranty Deed contains protective covenants "as a burden and encumbrance on the property" and which "run with the title to the property." Covenant (1) is relevant to the present suit:

(1) The subject property can only be used to build and construct only one single family residence and appurtenances thereto (the term "single" family residence as used herein shall be construed to exclude among other things, hospitals, duplex houses, apartment houses, churches and schools and to exclude commercial and professional use, except a personal office in the home); . . .

Trial Exhibit 5 (emphasis added).

In the lower court, there was never a dispute as to whether the Lingles were aware of the protective covenants in their Warranty Deed. In fact, as a real estate attorney, Mr. Lingle had his own office prepare his Warranty Deed. Trial Exhibit 5, p. 3. The only dispute was as to the meaning of the protective covenants.

In 2008, the Homeowners became concerned when they observed a trailer on the Lingles property (in violation of the one of the protective covenants) and learned that the Lingles were planning to construct a horse barn but not a residence on the property (in violation of another protective covenant).

The Homeowners were concerned about this nonconforming use and how it would affect the neighborhood as a whole and their own property values in particular. The testimony on this point can be found at Trial Transcript Vol. I, pages 13, 35, 53, 56, and 71.⁴ None of the

⁴ In his Final Judgment, the Chancellor commented that the Homeowners had not put on evidence as to how the Lingles' nonconforming use would actually affect their property values. R. 79; R.Ex. 023. Of course, such evidence is not necessary to enforce a protective covenant. As long as the restriction is expressed in unambiguous language, enforcement is available in the

Homeowners objected to the concept of a horse barn being located on the Lingle's property. What they wanted to see was that the property was being <u>used</u> for residential purposes and that the barn was an <u>appurtenance to</u> the residence.

Throughout the proceedings below, there was never a dispute as to whether the Lingles were planning to build (and were actually in the process of building) a horse barn for the purpose of boarding horses on the property. The Lingles also acknowledged that they were not undertaking at the time to construct a single-family residence on the property or to use it for that purpose.

In fact, there was a dispute in the lower court about whether the Lingles <u>ever intended</u> to construct a single-family residence on the property. One of the Homeowners, Mary Ann Narron, testified that Mr. Lingle told her he had "no intention of building a house." Trial Transcript, Vol. I, p. 73. She also testified that Mr. Lingle had told her that if he sold the property, there would be a place left where somebody else could come to build a house. Trial Transcript, Vol. I, p. 77.

On the other hand, Mr. Lingle sent a letter to the other Homeowners in the Kristen Hill Subdivision dated October 23, 2007 in which he stated his intent "to build a house on the property at some point in the future." Trial Exhibit 8. Mr. Lingle explained in his letter, however, that "due to the slump in the real estate market, we cannot predict a date upon which the house will be built."

courts of this state to persons of proper standing. *Kinchen v. Layton*, 457 So. 2d 343, 345 (Miss. 1984). (One can imagine the litigation nightmares that would ensue if each time a subdivision sought to enforce a protective covenant, the subdivision was required to retain experts and put on evidence as to exactly how a violation of that protective covenant would impact each of the homeowners in the subdivision.)

In his letter, Mr. Lingle also explained that he currently owned two homes and that he did not expect either to be a quick sale. But, in the meantime, the Lingles wanted to build a horse barn and move a couple of horses to the property as soon as possible. Trial Exhibit 8.

At trial, Mr. Lingle also testified that he intended to build a house at some point in time. He explained:

I can not sit here and tell you if its one month or two months, or any time frame. But what I can say is it will be a house built there at some point in time and that time is measured by when we get through—when the house at Country Place sells, as well as my financial condition at the time, obviously.

Trial Transcript, Vol. II, p. 149 (emphasis added).

In his Findings of Fact, the Chancellor concluded that there had been a miscommunication between Ms. Narron and Mr. Lingle regarding the question of whether the Lingles had an intent to build a house. R. 78; R. Ex. 022. The Chancellor found from the conflicting testimony that the Lingles <u>did</u> have an intent to build at some time in the future. R. 10-11, 81; R. Ex. 025. ⁵

Turning to the language of the protective covenant, the Chancellor found ambiguity in the phrase "the subject property can only be used to build and construct only one single-family residence and appurtenances thereto." R. 63; R. Ex. 007. Specifically, the Chancellor found it to

⁵ The Chancellor made this particular finding of fact from conflicting evidence. On appeal, the Homeowners recognize that this Court will only reverse a chancellor's findings of fact if such are clearly erroneous. So, for purposes of this appeal, the Homeowners will accept the Chancellor's finding that the Lingles had an intent to build a home at some unknown, future point in time.

Such a finding does not, however, control the outcome of this case. Quite the opposite. As argued below, the protective covenants restrict the use to which the Lingles may put this property. Even if the Lingles have a current intent to make a conforming use of the property at some future point, it does not mean that they can make a nonconforming use in the interim.

be ambiguous "as to staging the scheduling of the building of the home and appurtenances thereto." R. 63; R. Ex. 007.

At trial, the Homeowners contended that under the protective covenants, the Lingles could not use the property for an appurtenance (such as a barn) without there first being a residence to which the barn was "appurtenant thereto." The Chancellor agreed that such was one reasonable interpretation of the protective covenant. R. 75; R. Ex. 019.

The Chancellor concluded, however, that since the barn constituted an "appurtenance", and since the protective covenants did not (in his opinion) specifically state the order in which construction of the home and appurtenances must occur, then another reasonable interpretation was that the appurtenances could be built and used first, with the home being built at some future date. R. 75-77; R. Ex. 019-021.

Because the Chancellor concluded that the protective covenants were ambiguous, he deemed it appropriate to construe the covenants in favor of the Lingles and against the Homeowners. R. 77; R. Ex. 021.

As to the fact that the Lingles were not building a home at the present, the Chancellor found that the Lingles had the following "valid reasons" for not doing so:

- Economical/credit lending issues;
- The inability of the Lingles to sell their home in Rankin County after having it on the market for over a year and having reduced the sales price.

R. 81; R.Ex. 025.

The Chancellor concluded, therefore, that the Lingles could use the property for construction of a horse barn and the boarding of horses so long as the Lingles had a present intent to build a residence on the property at some future date.

There was no evidence as to when that date might be, however. The Chancellor made no findings as to an anticipated date for the construction of a residence, nor did the Chancellor's ruling require that the Lingles ever commence construction.

As to the counterclaim, the Lingles put on no proof. The Chancellor did not even mention it in his Final Judgment.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi law regarding protective covenants is well-established. This case involves the straight-forward application of those principals of law to unambiguous protective covenants that limit use of land to residential purposes.

The protective covenants here clearly state that the "subject property can only be used to build and construct only one single family residences and appurtenances thereto." There is no ambiguity.

At trial, the evidence was as follows:

- 1. The Lingles were in the process of constructing a horse barn on the property for the purpose of boarding horses. This was undisputed.
- 2. There was no single-family residence on the property, and the Lingles were not in the process of constructing one. This was undisputed.
- 3. Mr. Lingle testified that he could not currently build a residence due to the slump in the real-estate market, his need to sell one or both of his currently-owned houses, and the Lingles' financial condition in general.
- 4. There was no evidence as to a date by which the Lingles would, in fact, begin construction of the house. To the contrary, Mr. Lingle disclaimed (more than once) his ability to predict a date upon which a house would be built.

In light of these facts, were the Lingles making a nonconforming use of the land in violation of the protective covenants? The answer is "yes". Put in this simplest of terms, the Lingles were making use of this land, and that use <u>did not</u> include a single-family residence.

As discussed below, the Mississippi Supreme Court has already addressed the same issue. Courts of other jurisdictions have likewise addressed the question and have come to the same conclusion - - a restrictive covenant limiting use of the land to single-family residences prohibits the owner from building and using "appurtenances" on the land until such time as the owner has begun using the land for residential purposes.

As written, the Chancellor's ruling impermissibly allows the Lingles to make a nonconforming use of the property based upon the Lingles' expressed intent to *subsequently* make a conforming use of the property at some unknown, future date, when their financial condition changes. This is contrary to law.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

A chancellor's findings of fact will not be disturbed on appeal unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. *Burnett v. Burnett*, 792 So. 2d 1016, 1018-1019 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). On the other hand, a chancellor's <u>conclusions of law</u> are reviewed *de novo. Id.*

In this appeal, the Homeowners do not challenge any findings of fact by the Chancellor. They do, however, contend that the Chancellor made erroneous legal conclusions. Specifically, the Homeowners contend that the Chancellor erroneously held that the protective covenants at issue were ambiguous.

It is well-established that the issue of whether a document is ambiguous is a question of law for the court. Crisler v. Crisler, 963 So. 2d 1248, 1251 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). If the

document is found by the court to be ambiguous, then the finder of fact may resolve the ambiguity. *Id*.

In the present case, then, the Chancellor's ruling that the protective covenants were ambiguous was a legal determination and should be reviewed *de novo* on appeal.

B. The Protective Covenants are Not Ambiguous

It may be useful for the Homeowners to begin their argument with a recitation of the principles established by the Mississippi courts for the interpretation and application of protective covenants.

"In construing covenants imposing restrictions and burdens on use of land, the language used will be read in its ordinary sense, and the restriction and burden will be construed in light of the circumstances surrounding its formation, with the idea of carrying its object, purpose and intent, and the restrictions and burdens should be fairly and reasonably interpreted according to their apparent purpose." *Griffin v. Tall Timbers Development*, 681 So. 2d 546, 551 (Miss. 1996).

"In construing restrictive covenants, the question is primary one of intention, and the fundamental rule is that the intention of the parties as shown by the agreement governs, being determined by a fair interpretation of the entire text of the covenant." A. A. Home Improvement Co. v. Hide-A-Way Lake, 393 So. 2d 133, 136 (Miss. 1981).

If a protective covenant is ambiguous, it should be construed strongly against the person seeking enforcement. *Kinchen v. Layton*, 457 So. 2d 343, 345 (Miss. 1984). But, if the wording of the protective covenant is clear, it "will not be disregarded merely because a use is restricted." *Id.* "So long as prohibition is expressed in unambiguous language, enforcement is available to persons of proper standing." *Id.*

It is against this backdrop that the protective covenants in this case must be read. Again, it bears repeating that there is no dispute in this case as to whether the Lingles were aware of the protective covenants. The only issue is as to their meaning.

Do these covenants mean (as the Homeowners contend) that before a horse barn can be constructed on the property and put to use, there must also be a single-family residence on the property? Does the phrase "appurtenances thereto" mean that the barn must be appurtenant to an existing residence?

Or, do they mean (as the Lingles contend and the Chancellor ruled) that the horse barn can be placed on the property and put into use even in the absence of a single-family residence? Can the construction and use of a barn for boarding horses be allowed under the protective covenants so long as the landowner expresses an intent to build a residence at some future (but unknown) date?

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