IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARSHALL E. BELAGER-PRICE, AND BRENDA C. BELAGER-PRICE; BRIAN E. PRICE, AND RETHA A. PRICE; RICHARD TUCKER AND CAROLYN TUCKER; AARON D. PUCKETT, JR, AND LESLIE PUCKETT; AND MARY ANNE NARRON

APPELLANTS

V. NO. 2008-CA-02102

RICHARD M. LINGLE AND NAOMI T. LINGLE

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES RICHARD M, LINGLE AND NAOMI T. LINGLE

Ronald Henry Pierce (MS Bar No. PIERCE LAW FIRM, PLLC Post Office Box 1928 Jackson, Mississippi 39215-1928 601-366-0454

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES RICHARD M. LINGLE AND NAOMI T. LINGLE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

As by Chancellor Zebert found, the prior owner made several improvements or "appurtences" to the property prior to the purchase of the property by the Lingles on June 14, 2007 (Trial Exhibit 5), including (a) a "permanent" pole barn (b) a fence around the property with three-rail PVC white fencing, (c) a pond, and (c) a gravel drive-way into the property. The Lingles continued the process of building "appurtenances." The Lingles built an elaborate and decorative entrance to the property complete with stone and iron work, improved the entrance

drive-way, and expanded the house pad for their future house. All of these can be visually seen from the Exhibits entered at trial (Exhibit 8 - letter with photos attached of the premises) and were personally seen by the Chancellor when he view the premises. (Paragraph 55(B)7, and Paragraph 12 of the Final Judgment, Appellant's Record Excerpt page 004-028; CP, p60-84). Petitioner Carol Tucker described the stone entrance as follows:

They had started construction on a big driveway with a huge entrance gate, and a lot of bricks had been brought out, and road had been built from Gluckstadt Road up into the property.

Transcript at Page 43:20-23. As Chancellor Zebert found "It is difficult to believe that such an expensive stone entrance would be built for just a barn." Final Judgment at paragraph 28 (Appellant's Record Excerpt page 004-028; CP, p60-84).

At no time (less and except in the Landowners most recent brief) have the Landowners contested the presence of horses or other animals on the property (Transcript Page 65:25-29; Paragraph 34-35, page 13 of the Final Judgment, Appellant's Record Excerpt page 004-028; CP, p60-84). In fact, at trial, the Landowners and Lingles' protective covenants are not the same. In its development, or at the present time, Kristen Hill Subdivision does not have a uniform or universal set of protective covenants. Each deed is separate and distinct from the other property owners in the subdivision. For example, the Lingles protective covenants call for a minimum heated and cooled square footage of 3,500 square feet (Exhibit 5). The minimum heated and cooled square footage for the Belaga-Price property is only 2,500 square feet (Exhibit 1). The Puckett property which is adjacent to the Lingle property does not have any specific protective covenants whatsoever (Exhibit 2). *The Tucker property is blessed with the protective covenants*

of a completely different subdivision, Cherry Hill Plantation, Phase II (Exhibit 6) (Emphasis added). The Price property protective covenants are similar to the Belagar-Price property in as much as they require a minimum heated and cooled square footage of 2,500 (Exhibit 7), not the 3,500 as required in the Lingle deed.

It is clear that while the Landowners claim to be protecting their investment or the continuity of the Kristen Hill Subdivision no one seems to care that none of the protective covenants are the same. Different obligations and restrictions are placed on the various owners with no particular degree of care. Or, to put it bluntly, the protective covenants applicable to various lots of Kristen Hill Subdivision are clear as mud. The Landowners seek to apply a different and more harsh set of rules on Lingle that they would operate under themselves.

The Landowners claim in their brief that they are concerned about "this non-conforming use and how it would affect the neighborhood as a whole and their own property values in particular." (Page 9, paragraph 4 of the Landowners' Brief). However, only 2 out of 5 even have the same covenants. It is clear that Lingles intended purpose for the property is to be their residence (Final Judgment and Findings of Fact including Conclusions of Law, Paragraph 55(B)13, Page 23, Appellant's Record Excerpt page 004-028; CP, p60-84). Even the Landowners concede this point (Landowners' Brief, footnote 5, Page 11). All of the appurtenances which exist on the Lingles property provide for some function or use. They are all incident to home ownership. Certainly, a fence would be acceptable. Certainly, a gated entrance would suffice. The existing barn that was on the property prior to the Lingles purchase is an acceptable appurtenance. All of these appurtenances are incidental to the ownership of the

residential property in question and serve the property in some way that is consistent with its intended use as a residence. If horses were contemplated by the developer and originator of the protective covenants, then certainly a barn for the horse would be contemplated (transcript Page 65:25-29). The Landowners do not get to choose which appurtenances are acceptable unless specific, clear and unambiguous language creates such a restriction.

Summary of the Argument

It is has long been the public policy of this state that:

... ordinarily that minuscule portion of this planet's soil as a person owns may be put to such use as that person desires.

Kinchen v. Layton, 457 So.2d 343, 345 (Miss.1984). "A logical outgrowth of this public policy has been the established rule of construction that restrictive or protective covenants, where ambiguous, are construed strongly against the person seeking enforcement." Kinchen v. Layton, 457 So.2d at 345. Restrictive covenants must be written in clear and unambiguous language and "[t]he intent must be clear. Andrews v. Lake Serene Property Owners Ass 'n, Inc. 434 So. 2d 1328 (Miss. 1983). Such covenants are subject to a strict construction and in the case of ambiguity, restrictive covenants are construed most strongly against the person seeking the restriction and in favor of the person being restricted. Id.

The Landowners in the case at bar assert that the "clear and unambiguous language" of the restriction at issue require the Lingles to construct a single-family residence before they can construct any appurtenance whatsoever on their property. As a result, the Landowners initially sought a permanent injunction prohibiting the Lingles "from constructing any appurtenance whatsoever, and specifically a horse barn until such time as they have constructed a single family residence".

While the Landowners argue that the language of the Lingles protective covenants is clear and unambiguous, they now (for the first time on appeal) also argue that the Lingles should be prevented (1) from having horses on the property (Page 25, paragraph D(1) of the Landowners' Brief), (2) they ask the Court to establish a time frame in which construction on the dwelling house must begin (Page 25, paragraph D(2), footnote 10 of the Landowners' Brief), and (3) argue for the removal of one appurtenance to the land, i.e. the new barn, while not complaining of the other appurtenances that existed prior to Lingles' purchase of the property or other appurtenances that the Lingles affixed to the property since their purchase (Page 25, paragraph D of the Landowners' Brief). Yet, the Lingles protective covenants do not contain ANY LANGUAGE regarding these matters. The only thing clear and unambiguous about the Landowners demands on the Lingles is that NO SUCH LANGUAGE EXISTS IN THE LINGLES' RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS (Trial Exhibit 5) to support them.

If the Landowners' interpretation of the restriction is upheld, this would result in an unfair position for the Defendants and impose an undue restraint upon the Lingles' use of their private property. If the Lingles cannot build or construct "any appurtenance" until after the residence is completed, this would mean that the Lingles could not:

- a. Build a fence until their house was completed;
- b. Build any retaining walls until their house was completed;
- c. Build a paved driveway until their house was completed;
- d. Build a tool shed until their house was completed;
- e. Or any other appurtenance until their house was completed.

Under the Landowners' view, any activity, short of living on the property, would be a "use other than residential" and be a violation of the Lingles restrictive covenants. Thus, if the Lingles were avid bird watchers, merely watching the birds fly on the property would be a violation of the Lingles' restrictive covenants unless the Lingles had not first constructed a dwelling house on the property. This view is, of course, absurd. As the Chancellor correctly determined, the restriction at issue is ambiguous and must be construed against the Landowners and in favor of the Lingles.

It is patently obvious that reasonable minds can reach different conclusions as to the meaning of the restriction at issue as it applies to the question presented in this lawsuit and therefore the language of the restrictive covenant at issue falls short of the degree of specificity and clarity necessary to impose such restrictions on the Lingles. Compare, *Andrew v. Lake Serene Property Owners Ass'n, Inc.*, 434 So 2d at 1333.

It should also be remembered that even though the protective covenant specifically restricts the minimum size of the future home to be at least 3,500 square feet of heated and cooled space, nowhere is there a restriction regarding the order of construction of any building, time for start or completion of any building, the number of permitted buildings, or activities that may or may not be conducted prior to the construction of the dwelling house. The Lingles protective covenants are silent in that respect and subject the Lingles to speculation, conjecture and random enforcement attempts as to the protective covenants force and effect. Such characteristics cause those portions of the protective covenants to be unenforceable as a matter of law. Compare, Andrew v. Lake Serene Property Owners Ass'n, Inc. 434 So.2d at 1333. It is

clear that the developer, or their attorney, knew how to word specific restrictions. As this Court stated in *Schaeffer v. Gatling*, 137 So.2d 819 (1962):

"If the original owner of the subdivision had desired to prohibit the use of house trailers as residences, this could easily have been accomplished by designating house trailers as prohibited use, or by restricting architectural design, by placing a minimum on the floor space for a residence, or by prohibiting temporary residences"

Schaeffer v. Gatling, 137 So.2d at 829. Or, as the Chancellor stated in this case at bar, "Similarly, in the case of the restrictions in the Lingles' Warranty Deed, if Petitioner Narron or her partnership had desired to prohibit the construction of a horse barn before the completion of a residence, this could have easily been accomplished by drafting a clear prohibition in the restrictive covenants" (Paragraph 58, page 24 of the Final Judgment, Appellant's Record Excerpt page 004-028; CP, p60-84). Or, at a minimum set forth one (1) set of protective covenants for the Kristen Hill Subdivision instead of four (4) separate and different sets for the total of five (5) lots.

The lower court correctly held that the protective covenants at issue is ambiguous in regard to whether a landowner must first build a "single family residence" before constructing any "appurtenances".

Argument

A. Standard of Review

As counsel for the Landowners aptly states, a chancellor's finding of fact will not be disturbed on appeal unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, or clearly erroneous, questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. What counsel for the Landowners neglects to point out, however, is that if a contract (such as a restrictive covenant) is determined to be ambiguous, the

chancellor's determinations are reviewed on appeal under a substantial evidence/manifest error standard. Wesley M. Breland Realtor, Inc. v. Amandatidis, 996 So.2d 176 ¶ 14 (Miss. App.2008).

B. The lower court's did not commit manifest error in finding the restrictive covenant at issue is ambiguous and falls short of the degree of specificity and clarity necessary to impose the restrictions the Appellants seek to impose on the Appellees.

It is has long been the public policy of this state that:

... ordinarily that minuscule portion of this planet's soil as a person owns may be put to such use as that person desires.

Kinchen v. Layton, 457 So.2d 343, 345 (Miss.1984) (quoting Andrews v. Lake Serene Property Owners Association, Inc., 434 So.2d 1328, 1331 (Miss.1983). "A logical outgrowth of this public policy has been the established rule of construction that restrictive or protective covenants, where ambiguous, are construed strongly against the person seeking enforcement." Kinchen v. Layton, 457 So.2d at 345. The Mississippi Supreme Court has long held that restrictive covenants must be written in clear and unambiguous language and "[t]he intent must be clear. Andrews v. Lake Serene Property Owners Ass 'n, Inc. 434 So. 2d 1328 (Miss. 1983). Such covenants are subject to a strict construction and in the case of ambiguity, restrictive covenants are construed most strongly against the person seeking the restriction and in favor of the person being restricted. Id.

In Andrews, construing the restrictions in favor of the landowner being restricted, and in view of the rules on construction applicable to private restrictive covenants, the Court found that the language of the restrictive covenant at issue fell "far short of the degree of specificity and

clarity necessary" to impose the restrictions the Plaintiffs sought to impose on the defendant. Andrews v. Lake Serene Property Owners Ass 'n, Inc., 434 So. 2d. at 1333. Similarly, in Kinchen, after applying the rules of construction, the Court held:

In summary, when strictly construed against the parties seeking enforcement, these covenants simply are not sufficient to proscribe the placement and use of the structure in question on Lot 10 of the Briarwood West-First Addition subdivision of Harrison County, Mississippi.

Kinchen v. Layton, 457 So.2d at 347.

The Landowners in the case at bar assert that the "clear and unambiguous language" of the restriction at issue require the Lingles to construct a single-family residence before they can construct any appurtenance whatsoever on their property. As a result, the Landowners initially sought a permanent injunction prohibiting the Lingles "from constructing any appurtenance whatsoever, and specifically a horse barn until such time as they have constructed a single family residence". See ¶ 16 of the Landowner's Petition (CP 1-29). In response, the Lingles assert:

- a. The restriction is not written in clear and unambiguous language;
- b. The restriction at issue is indeed, as Chancellor Zebert found, ambiguous in regard to whether a landowner must first build a "single family residence" before constructing any "appurtenances".
- c. The restriction at issue is ambiguous and subject to more that more interpretation and therefore must be strictly construed against the parties seeking enforcement and in favor of the Lingles.
- d. In fact, there were a number of appurtenances already constructed on the property by the prior owner before they purchased the property;
- e. The restriction falls far short of the degree of specificity and clarity necessary to impose the interpretation of the restriction that the Landowners seek to impose upon the Lingles;

- f. The Landowners' interpretation of the restriction is absurd and would result in the Lingles not being able to construct fences, retaining walls, paved driveways, gravel driveways, permanent entranceways or any other "appurtenance" until they completed their residence;
- g. The Landowners' interpretation of the restriction would result in an undue restraint upon the Lingles use of their land; and

While the Landowners argue that the language of the Lingles protective covenants is clear and unambiguous, they now (for the first time on appeal) also argue that the Lingles should be prevented (1) from having horses on the property (Page 25, paragraph D(1) of the Landowners' Brief), (2) they ask the Court to establish a time frame in which construction on the dwelling house must begin (Page 25, paragraph D(2), footnote 10 of the Landowners' Brief), and (3) argue for the removal of one appurtenance to the land, i.e. the new barn, while not complaining of the other appurtenances that existed prior to Lingles' purchase of the property or other appurtenances that the Lingles affixed to the property since their purchase (Page 25, paragraph D of the Landowners' Brief). Yet, the Lingles protective covenants do not contain ANY LANGUAGE regarding these matters. The only thing clear and unambiguous about the Landowners demands on the Lingles is that NO SUCH LANGUAGE EXISTS IN THE LINGLES' RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS (Trial Exhibit 5) to support them.

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